FILED

E MAR 17 2016
WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

No. 92605-1
Court of Appeals No. 45374-6-II
(Consolidated)

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

TRESON ROBERTS,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW ON BEHALF OF
TRESON ROBERTS

On review from the Court of Appeals, Division Two,
and the Superior Court of Pierce County, the Honorable John R. Hickman,
trial judge

KATHRYN RUSSELL SELK
WSBA No. 23879
Counsel for Petitioner Roberts
RUSSELL SELK LAW OFFICE
Post Office Box 31017
Seattle, Washington 98103
(206) 782-3353

FILED IN COA ON DECEMBER 24, 2015

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Treson Roberts, appellant below, petitions this Court to grant review of the part published decision of the two-judge majority of the court of appeals and portions of the three-judge unpublished portion of the same decision, designated in section B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (3), Petitioner asks this Court to review the published portion of a decision of a two-judge majority and parts of the unpublished portion agreed upon by a three-judge panel of Division Two of the Court of Appeals in State v. Roberts, ___ Wn. App. ___, ___ P.3d ___ (2015) (November 24, 2015)(Appendix A).

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Petitioner was 16 years old on the day the crimes were committed but was tried, convicted subject to mandatory consecutive sentencing enhancements as an adult due to operation of RCW 13.04.040(1)(e)(v), the “automatic decline” statute.
 - a. Is the reasoning of Miller v. Alabama, ___ U.S. ___, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012), its antecedents and progeny limited to only those cases in which a juvenile faces the death penalty or life without the possibility of parole as the published two-judge majority here held or is that extremely limited view of the implications of Miller in conflict with the history and reasoning of that case as well as this Court’s recent decision in State v. O’Dell, 183

Wn.2d 680, 358 P.3d 359 (2015), and the decision of Division One in State v. Ronquillo, _ Wn. App. _, 361 P.3d 779 (2015)?

- b. Does automatically treating all juveniles in the category of ages 16 or 17 who commit certain crimes as if they are equally as culpable as adults violate the Eighth Amendment and due process by providing no room for proportionality in consideration of the individual characteristics of the particular youth?
- c. Does automatically treating all juveniles of a particular age as if they were adults based upon the nature of the crime and subjecting them to adult punishment as a result violate Miller's mandate that criminal justice systems must honor the distinctions between juveniles and adults and allow consideration of those distinctions or run afoul of the Eighth Amendment?
- d. Does the operation of mandatory consecutive "flat-time" sentencing enhancements intended for adults on a juvenile after automatic decline to adult court violate the mandates of Miller, the Eighth Amendment and due process?
- e. In 1996, this Court applied then-existing Eighth Amendment jurisprudence which did not recognize a distinction between juveniles and adults in upholding RCW 13.04.040(1)(e)(v), in In re Boot, 130 Wn.2d 553, 925 P.2d 560 (1996). Is Boot no longer good law because the U.S. Supreme Court has since abandoned that theory of the Eighth Amendment and now recognizes such distinctions?

Did the published majority in this case err in holding that Boot still controls even though that case depended upon Eighth Amendment and due

process jurisprudence which has since been overruled?

2. Is evidence sufficient to prove that a victim felt a “reasonable apprehension” of imminent harm when she testified that she did not believe what was happening, did not surrender items as demanded and instead walked away?

Did the court of appeals err in extending this Court’s holding in State v. Stewart, 73 Wn.2d 701, 440 P.2d 815 (1968), to this case and creating a new apparent presumption that a person must have the required apprehension of harm even if they testify inconsistent with that apprehension?

3. Did the court of appeals err in upholding imposition of a firearm enhancement on the inchoate crime of conspiracy when there was no evidence of a link between the conspiracy itself and the gun?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural facts

Petitioner Treson Roberts was charged by amended information in Pierce County superior court with first-degree unlawful possession of a firearm, as well as second-degree assault, conspiracy to commit first-degree robbery and seven counts of first-degree robbery, each with a firearm enhancement. CP 283-88. Although 16 at the time of the crimes, e was tried as an adult automatically by operation of statute. He was acquitted of two of the counts of robbery and of the unlawful possession charge but was convicted of all other counts and of the enhancements. CP

283-88, 404-420; RP 2372-77;¹ RCW 9.41.010, RCW 9.41.040, RCW 9A.28.040, RCW 9A.56.190, RCW 9A.56.200(1)(a)(i)(ii), RCW 9.94A.530, RCW 9.94A.533. At sentencing, the parties agreed that, due to the mandatory adult enhancements which were required to run consecutive for a term of 317 months of “flat time,” no base term would be imposed. CP 428-42; RP 2417-19.

Roberts appealed and, on November 24, 2015, a divided panel of two judges on Division Two of the court of appeals affirmed in a part-published opinion. See App. A. This Petition timely follows.

2. Overview of facts relating to incident²

On Halloween night of 2012, in several separate incidents, people out trick-or-treating said they were approached by three young men, one of whom pointed a silver gun at them and demanded their candy and other items. See App. A. Police used a “K9” team to try to track in the direction it was believed the young men had gone and ended up next to a Cadillac parked on a home’s back lawn. Inside were several young men; Zion

¹References to the verbatim report of proceedings is contained in Appellant’s Opening Brief (AOB) at 4 n.1.

²This overview is intended to familiarize the Court with the underlying facts; a more complete discussion is in the opening briefs of both Petitioner Roberts and his codefendant, Houston-Sconiers, below.

Houston-Sconiers, Treson Roberts, Zion Johnson, LeShawn Alexander and Amancio Tolbert. Some items taken from the trick-or-treaters were later found in the car and Alexander testified against his friends Houston-Sconiers and Roberts, in exchange for dismissal of the charges Alexander himself faced. RP 80, 1518, 1532-33.

According to Alexander, they all met up that night, smoked marijuana and drank vodka, but he and Tolbert had left at some point to get food. Alexander claimed he saw Houston-Sconiers with a white hockey mask and Roberts with a red devil mask like those alleged to have been taken and/or worn during the incidents. RP 1441-48. He also said he saw Houston-Sconiers and Roberts run down an alley and return with a cell phone and later on, that Houston-Sconiers had pointed a silver gun at a man and demanded his telephone that night in front of Alexander. RP 1456-59.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. THE ISSUES REGARDING OUR AUTOMATIC DECLINE STATUTE, BOOT AND THE APPLICATION OF MILLER ARE OF EXTREME IMPORTANCE, RECURRING AND IN DIRE NEED OF THIS COURT'S REVIEW

At the time of the crimes, Roberts was 16 years old. See CP 17-22. Because of RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(v)(A), our “automatic decline” law,

however, Roberts was charged, tried, convicted and sentenced as an adult, without any consideration of his youth or any specific facts relating to him as an individual. On appeal, in the published portion of its opinion, the two-judge majority of Division Two found there was no violation of the Eighth Amendment or due process prohibitions against disproportionality to so treat a youth accused of a crime, and that Boot was still good law. App. A at 1-10.

This Court should grant review, because the majority published decision is inconsistent with groundbreaking shifts in Eighth Amendment and due process law, fails to fully recognize and honor the unique diminished qualities of youth as described in Miller, supra, applies an extremely narrow view of Miller and the relevant law which this Court and Division One have already rejected and upholds this Court's decision in Boot even though that decision no longer retains currency.

Boot, decided in 1996, applied then-existing Eighth Amendment and due process law which did not recognize any difference between an adult and a juvenile. Boot, 130 Wn.2d at 569. And Boot was a recognition of the times. Until 1994, children under the age of 18 were automatically tried in and sentenced (given a "disposition") in juvenile court, unless and until that court "declined" jurisdiction. Boot, 130 Wn.2d

at 562-63. Such a “decline” could occur only after a hearing at which the court was required to consider factors relating not only to the nature of the crime but also the specific offender himself, such as the sophistication and maturity of the specific juvenile, his living situation, history, emotional development and other relevant circumstances. See State v. Williams, 75 Wn.2d 604, 453 P.2d 418 (1969); Kent v. United States, 383 U.S. 541, 86 S. Ct. 1045, 16 L. Ed. 2d 84 (1966); RCW 13.40.110 (providing the factors a court is required to consider in deciding whether to decline jurisdiction).

In the 1990s, however, in the wake of national fears over juvenile “superpredators” (later debunked)³ our Legislature followed the national trend and enacted “automatic decline” in RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(v). Under that statute, all children who are 16 or 17 when they commit certain crimes are categorically deemed to be adults and tried and sentenced as such. See RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(v)(A); see State v. Posey, 161 Wn.2d 638, 643, 167 P.3d 560 (2007).

³The concept of the juvenile “super-predator” was popularized by those such as former Princeton professor John Dilulio, who warned of “tens of thousands of severely morally impoverished juvenile super-predators” who were about to burst onto society; he later confessed he had been wrong. See Lara A. Bazelon, Note: Exploding the Superpredator Myth; Why Infancy is the Preadolescent’s Best Defense in Juvenile Court, 75 N.Y.U. L. REV. 159 (2000); see also, “Superpredators Arrive,” *Newsweek*, Jan 21, 1996, available at <http://www.newsweek.com/superpredators-arrive-176848>.

In Boot, in 1996, this Court upheld that statute as constitutional under then-existing Eighth Amendment and due process law, which did not recognize any difference between a youth and an adult. Boot, 130 Wn.2d at 564-68. And the Court rejected the defendant's argument that his due process rights were violated by automatic decline's "taking away his 'substantive constitutional right to punishment in accordance with one's culpability, which in turn, depends, in part on one's ability to make reasoned adult judgments about the consequences of one's acts.'" Boot, 130 Wn.2d at 571.

In 2005, however, a fundamental shift began with Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 551, 125 S. Ct. 1183, 161 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2005), in which our country's highest Court recognized that Eighth Amendment analysis must consider the age of the offender and that child development research now made it clear that the irresponsibility of a juvenile is not as "morally reprehensible" as the same acts in an adult, because the failings of the minor might be simply transitory immaturity. Just a few years later, the Court extended that holding beyond the context of the death penalty, in Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 130 S. Ct. 2011, 176 L. Ed. 2d 825 (2011). The Graham Court concluded, contrary to the holding in this state in Boot, "[t]he age of the offender and the nature of the crime each bear"

on Eighth Amendment analysis. Graham, 540 U.S. at 69-70.

Then, in Miller, the Court extended the reasoning of Roper and Graham yet further, to find that the Eighth Amendment prohibits automatic imposition of life without the possibility of parole for even a juvenile who committed the most heinous crime of killing another. 132 S. Ct. at 2468-69. The Eighth Amendment was violated by automatic imposition of such sentences because the sentencing court is not allowed to take into account the youth of the juvenile, his immaturity, and other factors relevant to culpability which are affected by age. 132 S. Ct. at 2468-69. Although the Miller Court did not foreclose the possibility that a sentencing authority might decide to impose a “life without” sentence after consideration of the relevant facts, the Court required a specific analysis first: “we require it to take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them” to life without parole. Miller, 132 S. Ct. at 2458. The Court also noted that Roper and Graham “establish that children are constitutionally different from adults for sentencing purposes,” because of what we know about their emotional and mental development, susceptibility to outside pressure and other factors. Miller, 132 S. Ct. at 2458.

Across the country, state courts are grappling with how they should

honor not only this groundbreaking reversal in Eighth Amendment jurisprudence but also the fundamental shift in our understanding of the legal culpability of youth. See, e.g., Casiano v. Comm’r of Correction, 317 Conn. 52, 72-80, 115 A.3d 1031 (2015); State v. Null, 836 N.W.2d 41, 71-75 (Iowa 2013). In O’Dell, supra, a majority of this Court adopted a uniquely expansive view, extending Miller beyond its plain ruling and application to youth to allow even a defendant whose crime occurred after he turned 18 to raise the mitigating factors of youth described in Miller at his sentencing as an adult. O’Dell, 183 Wn.2d at 366-68.

And in Ronquillo, Division One similarly concluded that the reasoning and holding of Miller applies broadly. That Court holding that a sentence of 51.3 years for multiple crimes including murder was a “de facto life sentence,” that Miller applies when the total terms imposed result in such a sentence even if the terms are for multiple crimes and required by law to run consecutive, and that Miller applies even in a case where the defendant was not subject to automatic decline like Roberts, here, but given a full hearing and consideration by a judge of multiple factors regarding the specific youth and his crime and culpability. Ronquillo, 361 P.3d at 784.

The published decision of the two-judge majority in this case

conflicts sharply with O'Dell and Ronquillo and is fundamentally at odds with the purpose and reasoning most recently embodied in Miller. Even though those judges recognized that Eighth Amendment and due process law had significantly changed, that Boot had been seriously undermined and that “the legislature’s enactment of the automatic decline statute predated” much of the fundamental shifts in our understanding of the legal culpability of youth, they found no Eighth Amendment or due process violations in either categorically treating all youth as if they were culpable as adults based solely upon their age and the nature of their crime or in the operation of such treatment combined with imposition of mandatory, consecutive “flat-time” adult sentencing enhancements. App. A at 1-10.

Put simply, they refused to grant relief because Roberts was “not sentenced to death or life without the possibility of parole.” App. A at 8. The majority was convinced that Miller and its reasoning applied only to sentences which “implicate the death penalty, life without the possibility of parole for non-homicide crimes, or mandatory life without the possibility of parole for any juvenile offenders.” App. A at 8.

In Ronquillo, Division One rejected this very same holding that Miller applies only to those facing a mandatory term of life without parole or worse and its application is so limited. Ronquillo, 361 P.3d at 74-86.

And in O'Dell, this Court's majority clearly rejected such a narrow, formalistic view of the impact of Miller and the complete shifts in constitutional law analysis by applying the principles of Miller to an *adult*.

This Court should grant review. The two-judge majority's published opinion adopting the narrowest possible view of Miller and upholding Boot is in conflict with this Court's decision adopting a much different view in O'Dell - as well as the decision in Ronquillo from Division One. But it is this Court which is the final arbiter of how best to honor the seismic changes wrought by our new understanding of the legal culpability and transient qualities of youth and the Supreme Court's holding in Miller. While they admitted that "Eighth Amendment jurisprudence has evolved" and a large part of the underpinnings of Boot are "no longer good law" on either the Eighth Amendment or due process, the majority felt constrained to follow this Court's conclusion years ago in Boot that automatic decline was constitutional. App. A at 6-8. And they based their decision in large part on their extremely restricted view of Miller's application - that the "basic differences between adult and juvenile offenders" are "confined to crimes that may merit the death penalty or life imprisonment without parole." App. A at 51-60 (Bjorgen, J., dissenting).

In Graham, the U.S. Supreme Court held that “criminal procedure laws that fail to take defendants’ youthfulness into account at all would be flawed.” Graham, 560 U.S. at 72-73. That is exactly what not only the automatic decline statute but also application of that statute coupled with imposition of mandatory adult enhancements here did. The automatic imposition of mandatory, flat-time, consecutive terms without any consideration of the mitigating factors of the defendant’s youth runs afoul of Graham and of the increasing recognition that juveniles are not just “little adults.” See e.g., State v. Lyle, 854 N.W.2d 378 (Iowa, 2014) (striking mandatory 7 year enhancements under Miller and the state’s constitution).

Further, it is clear that this issue is of substantial public importance and is going to continue to recur. At about the same as Ronquillo, Division Three decided State v. Ramos, 189 Wn. App. 431, 357 P.3d 680 (2015), which appeared to adopt the extremely limited view used by the two-judge majority here - “that Miller does not apply in cases of nonlife sentences or [to] aggregate sentences.” See Ronquillo, 361 P.3d at n. 7. All three divisions of the court of appeals have now made their views on Miller’s scope clear with their decisions. The views of the two-judge majority in this case conflict with the reasoning and history of Miller, as

well as the decision of this Court in O'Dell and Division One in Ronquillo.

Treson Roberts was 16 years old that fateful Halloween night when he participated in the crimes. Under the published majority in this case, simply because of that age and the crime with which he was charged, the necessary result is that he is presumed to have equal culpability as an adult and will be tried as such, then subjected to mandatory “flat-time” adult sentencing enhancements. The majority found no constitutional impediment to this automatic decision of culpability based on operation of law or to the effect of that automatic transfer when coupled with the mandatory flat-time enhancements. Yet as a result of those statutes, the 16-year old was required to serve a flat 31 years of his life in prison by operation of statute, “as though by the workings of a machine.” App. A at 52 (Bjorgen, J., dissenting).

In O'Dell, this Court granted review to address the important issue of whether an *adult* is entitled to the benefit of the reasoning of Miller. And that defendant was not only an adult - he received a sentence of only 95 months - not life without the possibility of parole or death. This case demonstrates the urgent need for this Court to decide whether our automatic decline system remains constitutional and Boot good law either

by itself or in operation with mandatory adult sentencing enhancement laws. It is this Court, not a divided panel of Division Two, which must decide whether it offends constitutional proportionality principles to categorically treat every 16- and 17-year old who commits certain crimes as if they are equally as culpable as adults by subjecting them to adult court proceedings and penalties without consideration of the crucial Miller factors, and whether Boot's holding to the contrary years ago remains good law. And it is this Court which should decide whether those principles are further violated when, by operation of that system and mandatory adult sentencing laws, a 16-year old offender is required to be sentenced to spend a flat 31 years of his life in prison for his part in the crimes that night where a gun was pointed but never fired and not a single victim was injured.

Because it found no violation, the two-judge majority did not address the question of remedy. Upon review, if this Court find violation of Roberts' rights by the deprivation of juvenile court jurisdiction, it will need to address the proper remedy or remand for the court of appeals to consider that issue as discussed by the parties in their briefing below. As noted therein, this Court can at least partially remedy the error in treating Roberts as an adult by ordering that Roberts should receive the disposition

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