1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

IN RE THE PERSONAL RESTRAINT
PETITION OF:

ZYION DONTICE HOUSTON-
SCONIERS,

Petitioner.

NO. 45374-6-II

STATE'S RESPONSE TO PERSONAL
RESTRAINT PETITION

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

1 prosecutor, as an advocate, is entitled to make a fair response to the arguments of defense
2 counsel.” *Russell*, 125 Wn.2d at 87.

3 Moreover, “[r]emarks of the prosecutor, even if they are improper, are not grounds
4 for reversal if they were invited or provoked by defense counsel and are in reply to his or
5 her acts and statements, unless the remarks are not a pertinent reply or are so prejudicial
6 that a curative instruction would be ineffective.” *Id.* at 86.

7 “A prosecutor’s improper comments are prejudicial ‘only where ‘there is a
8 substantial likelihood the misconduct affected the jury’s verdict.’” *State v. Yates*, 161
9 Wn.2d 714, 774, 168 P.3d 359 (2007) (quoting *Brown*, 132 Wn.2d at 561, 940 P.2d 546);
10 *Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d at 747.

11 “A reviewing court does not assess ‘[t]he prejudicial effect of a prosecutor’s
12 improper comments... by looking at the comments in isolation but by placing the remarks
13 ‘in the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the
14 argument, and the instructions given to the jury.’” *Id.* (quoting *Brown*, 132 Wn.2d at 561);
15 *State v. Johnson*, 158 Wn. App. 677, 683, 243 P.3d 936 (2010). “[R]emarks must be read
16 in context.” *State v. Pastrana*, 94 Wn. App. 463, 479, 972 P.2d 557 (1999); *Larios-Lopez*,
17 156 Wn. App. at 261.

18 Prosecutorial misconduct may be neutralized by a curative jury instruction, *Russell*,
19 125 Wn.2d 24, 86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994), and juries are presumed to follow the court’s
20 instructions. *State v. Weber*, 99 Wn.2d 158, 166, 659 P.2d 1102 (1983).

21 “Generally, to be entitled to relief, a timely P[ersonal] R[estraint] P[etitioner] must
22 establish ‘either that he or she was actually and substantially prejudiced by constitutional
23 error or that his or her trial suffered from a fundamental defect of a nonconstitutional
24 error or that his or her trial suffered from a fundamental defect of a nonconstitutional
25 error or that his or her trial suffered from a fundamental defect of a nonconstitutional

1 nature that inherently resulted in a complete miscarriage of justice.” *In re Pers. Restraint*
2 *of D’Allesandro*, 178 Wn. App. 457, 469, 314 P.3d 744 (2013) (footnote omitted) (*quoting*
3 *In re Pers. Restraint of Finstad*, 177 Wn.2d 501, 506, 301 P.3d 450 (2013)). Thus, “[a]
4 personal restraint petitioner has the burden of proving constitutional error that results in
5 actual prejudice or nonconstitutional error that results in a miscarriage of justice.” *In Re*
6 *Personal Restraint Petition of Waggy*, 111 Wn. App. 511, 518, 45 P.3d 1103 (2002)
7 (*citing In re Personal Restraint of Cook*, 114 Wn.2d 802, 813, 792 P.2d 506 (1990)). *See*
8 *In re Monschke*, 160 Wn. App. 479, 497, 251 P.3d 884 (2010); *In re Elmore*, 162 Wn.2d
9 236, 251, 172 P.3d 335 (2007); *In Re Personal Restraint Petition of Brett*, 142 Wn.2d
10 868, 874, 16 P.3d 601 (2001) (*citing In re Personal Restraint of Benn*, 134 Wn.2d 868,
11 884-85, 952 P.2d 116 (1998), *rev’d sub nom. on other grounds by Benn v. Wood*, No. C98-
12 5131RDB, 2000 WL 1031361 (W.D.Wash. June 30, 2000)).

13
14 “If a petition is based on matters outside the appellate record, a petitioner must
15 show that he has ‘competent, admissible evidence’ to support his arguments.” *Waggy*, 111
16 Wn. App. at 518 (*quoting In re Personal Restraint of Rice*, 118 Wn.2d 876, 886, 828 P.2d
17 1086, *cert. denied*, 506 U.S. 958, 113 S. Ct. 421, 121 L. Ed. 2d 344 (1992)).

18 “[A] petitioner must show that more likely than not he was prejudiced by the
19 error.” *Waggy*, 111 Wn. App. at 518. “Bare allegations unsupported by citation of
20 authority, references to the record, or persuasive reasoning cannot sustain this burden of
21 proof.” *Waggy*, 111 Wn. App. at 518-19 (*quoting State v. Brune*, 45 Wn. App. 354, 363,
22 725 P.2d 454 (1986), *review denied*, 110 Wn.2d 1002 (1988)). “A petition that fails to
23 meet this basic level of proof and argument may be dismissed summarily.” *Waggy*, 111
24 Wn. App. at 519.
25

1 In the present case, Petitioner argues that the deputy prosecutor committed
2 misconduct in seven ways, some of which he also argued in his direct appeal. PRP, p. 18.
3 The record shows otherwise.

4 First, Petitioner argues that the deputy prosecutor “[u]sed a personal bias to
5 prosecute [him], because,” he contends, the deputy prosecutor “believed the [petitioner]
6 came from a bad family and would continue to commit worse crimes when the [petitioner]
7 got older.” PRP, p. 18-19.

8 However, Petitioner fails to support these allegations “by citation of authority,
9 references to the record, or persuasive reasoning.” *Waggy*, 111 Wn. App. at 518-19; PRP,
10 p. 18-22. Although Petitioner cites “[a]pp[endix] C” as support for his argument, he
11 includes no appendix C in his petition. *See* PRP. While he notes that “language used by the
12 prosecutor as described in Counsel’s declaration [which is attached to his petition] can be
13 found in *In re Vandervlugt*, 120 Wn.2d 427, 434, 842 P.2d 950 (1992),” PRP, p. 19,
14 However, *Vandervlugt* did not concern an allegation of prosecutorial misconduct, but only
15 the issue of whether a sentencing court may “rely on a finding of future dangerousness to
16 support an exceptional sentence for a nonsexual offense.” *Vandervlugt*, 120 Wn.2d at 428.

17 Nor does Petitioner otherwise explain how the prosecutor “[u]sed” his alleged
18 “personal bias” to prosecute him. PRP, p. 18-22. It could not have been in the initial
19 decision to charge Petitioner, because Petitioner was charged by a different prosecutor than
20 the one who represented the State at trial. CP 1-4. The declaration for determination of
21 probable cause was also prepared and signed by a different prosecutor. CP 5-7. Moreover,
22 regardless of whether either prosecutor was biased against Petitioner, the superior court
23 found probable cause for the charges that were filed against him. Appendix A. Nor could
24
25

1 either of these prosecutor's alleged bias have affected the amended information, because
2 that was filed by a third prosecutor. CP 17-22. Nor was there bias demonstrated at trial
3 given that the deputy prosecutor agreed there was insufficient evidence of the first degree
4 robbery charged as count VIII, and stipulated to its dismissal. RP 1943-44. Finally, any
5 argument of bias in charging and prosecuting Petitioner must be dismissed given that a
6 jury, after trial, found that those charges had been proven beyond a reasonable doubt. RP
7 2370-72, 2375-77; CP 206-21.

8 Petitioner did include a declaration from his defense attorney at trial, which states,
9 in relevant part:

10 *Despite my best and repeated efforts, I was unable to obtain a reduction*
11 *of charges for my client. One of the prosecutor's stated reasons for*
12 *refusing to negotiate was my client's family background.* The prosecutor
13 had previously handled the case of A[.] C[.] Sconiers, Pierce County #00-
14 1-02607-4, a homicide by abuse case, and also was familiar with other
15 numerous cases committed by other individuals with the last name
16 Sconiers. *The prosecutor... told me that my client came from a "very bad*
family" and that he deserved no leniency. He rejected my repeated
arguments that my client should be viewed as an individual human being
and that his case and his case only was the matter we were discussing. The
prosecutor instead focused on the greater Sconiers family.

17 *[The deputy prosecutor] very straightforwardly told us that he was going*
18 *hard after my client because my client comes from "a bad family" and*
19 *that my client no doubt would continue to commit worse crimes as he got*
20 *older. [The deputy prosecutor] minced no words and said that he wanted*
21 *to lock up my client for as long as he could.* [The deputy prosecutor
appeared to me to be concerned more about my client's family[,] other
family members[,] and their misdeeds.

22 PRP, Declaration of Barbara Corey (emphasis added).

23 From this, it may be inferred that Petitioner's argument is that the deputy
24 prosecutor "[u]sed a personal bias to prosecute [him]," PRP, p. 18, by "refusing to
25

1 negotiate” a plea agreement and trying to “lock up [Petitioner] for as long as he could.”

2 PRP, Declaration of Barbara Corey.

3 However, a prosecutor has *no* duty to negotiate a plea agreement with a criminal
4 defendant, *see* RCW 9.94A.421 (*providing* that a prosecutor and defendant’s attorney
5 “*may* engage in discussions with a view toward reaching a[plea] agreement”), and may
6 seek an exceptional sentence *above* the standard range where aggravating circumstances
7 exist. *See* RCW 9.94A.500; RCW 9.94A.535.

8 Regardless, in this case, any alleged bias could not have resulted in the deputy
9 prosecutor “refusing to negotiate” a plea agreement and trying to “lock up [Petitioner] for
10 as long as he could.” PRP, Declaration of Barbara Corey. According to Appendix A to the
11 defense attorney’s declaration, the prosecutor made Petitioner at least one offer of a plea
12 agreement, which would have resulted in confinement of 17.5 years, or about 56% of the
13 time to which Petitioner was ultimately sentenced. *Compare* PRP, Appendix A with CP
14 232-46. Petitioner refused this offer. *See, e.g.*, PRP, Appendix A.

15
16 Finally, far from trying to “lock up [Petitioner] for as long as he could,” PRP,
17 Declaration of Barbara Corey, the deputy prosecutor here recommended and secured an
18 exceptional sentence *below* the standard range, which included only statutorily-mandated
19 confinement time. RP 2385-2407; CP 232-46.

20 Thus, Petitioner fails to show that the deputy prosecutor “[u]sed a personal bias to
21 prosecute [him],” PRP, p. 18, and fails to support his argument by any relevant “citation of
22 authority, references to the record, or persuasive reasoning.” *Waggy*, 111 Wn. App. at 518-
23 19; PRP, p. 18-22. As a result, his petition “fails to meet this basic level of proof,” and
24 should “be dismissed summarily.” *Id.*

1 Petitioner's second argument that the deputy prosecutor committed misconduct is
2 that the prosecutor implied that his "defense counsel was being dishonest." Petitioner made
3 this argument in his direct appeal, Op. Br. of App., p. 25-33, and the State responded to it
4 in its brief of respondent at pages 67-72. The State incorporates and relies on that response
5 herein.

6 Petitioner's third argument that the deputy prosecutor committed misconduct is that
7 the prosecutor "tried to shift the burden of proof, by pointing out why certain witness[es]
8 did not come before the court." PRP, p. 18. While Petitioner cites, without discussion, one
9 page in a transcript of over 2,400 pages, he does not explain what the prosecutor did or
10 why it was objectionable. He cites no authority and offers no "persuasive reasoning,"
11 *Waggy*, 111 Wn. App. at 518-19, in support of his argument. Therefore, he fails to meet
12 his burden of proof, and his argument should be dismissed.

13 Petitioner's fourth argument is that the deputy prosecutor "misstated the evidence
14 and testified to things that witness[e]s did not say." PRP, p. 18. The deputy prosecutor here
15 never testified to anything. *See* RP 1-2419. While he did deliver a closing argument, RP
16 2227-51, Petitioner does no more than cite, without discussion, five pages in the transcript
17 of that argument. PRP, p. 18. Petitioner does not reveal which of the prosecutor's
18 statements he finds objectionable or how those statements "misstated the evidence." PRP,
19 p. 18. *See* PRP, p. 1-22. He cites no authority and offers no "persuasive reasoning,"
20 *Waggy*, 111 Wn. App. at 518-19, in support of his argument that evidence was "misstated"
21 by the prosecutor. Therefore, Petitioner fails to meet his burden of proof, *see Id.*, and his
22 argument should be dismissed.
23
24
25

1 Petitioner's fifth argument is that the deputy prosecutor incorporated racially
2 derogatory language into his closing argument and "suggested to the jury that his
3 witness[es] could not remember due to a snitch code." PRP, p. 18. Petitioner made this
4 same argument in his direct appeal, Op. Br. of App., p. 29, and the State responded to it in
5 its Brief of Respondent, p. 66-67. The State incorporates and relies on that response here.

6 Petitioner's sixth argument that the deputy prosecutor committed misconduct is that
7 the deputy prosecutor, during closing argument "used the Halloween [m]ask[s] and gun"
8 that were admitted into evidence "with the lights dimmed to illustrate the scene of the
9 crimes." PRP, p. 18, 20.

10 However, Petitioner does not explain, assuming this happened as he describes, why
11 it was objectionable, and offers no authority or "persuasive reasoning," *Waggy*, 111 Wn.
12 App. at 518-19, in support of his argument that this was improper. PRP, p. 1-22. Therefore,
13 Petitioner fails to meet his burden of proof, *see Id.*, and his argument should be dismissed.

14 Because both the mask and revolver at issue were admitted as exhibits, and hence,
15 were evidence, at trial, Exhibit 16 (mask), Exhibit 24 (revolver), Appendix B (exhibit
16 record –trial), their inspection by the witness in question was proper.

17 Finally, Petitioner argues that the deputy prosecutor committed misconduct by
18 "stat[ing] to the jury that he was advocating on behalf of the public." PRP, p. 18.

19 Again, however, Petitioner fails to explicitly state exactly where in the transcript
20 this statement was allegedly made or what precisely the deputy prosecutor said. *See* PRP,
21 p. 1-22.
22

23 Nor does Petitioner explain why a statement made by a prosecutor that a prosecutor
24 is "advocating on behalf of the public," is misconduct. *See* PRP, p. 1-22. It seems to be an
25

1 accurate statement. After all, “[p]rosecuting attorneys are attorneys authorized by law to
2 appear for and represent the state and the counties thereof[, i.e., ‘the public,’] in actions
3 and proceedings before the courts and judicial officers.” RCW 36.27.005. *See State v.*
4 *Sanchez*, 146 Wn.2d 339, 348, 46 P.3d 774 (2002). Petitioner fails to support his
5 allegation that such a statement is improper “by citation of authority, references to the
6 record, or persuasive reasoning.” *Waggy*, 111 Wn. App. at 518-19; PRP, p. 18-22. He has,
7 therefore, failed to meet his burden of proof, and his “argument may” and should “be
8 dismissed summarily.” *Id.* at 519.

9 Petitioner later recasts this argument by contending that “the prosecutor cannot play
10 to the jurors emotions by stating that he is an *advocate for justice*,” and cites, *State v.*
11 *Lindsay*, 326 P.3d 125 (2014), and RP 2348. PRP, p. 21 (emphasis added).

12 However, at no point in the transcript at page 2348 does the deputy prosecutor state
13 that he is “an advocate for justice.” RP 2348. Rather, he states only that

14 [m]y job and the process as an advocate as a person, as I said, to challenge
15 the evidence is not to take what [witness] Ms. Bush says and just, okay,
16 Ms. Bush, open-ended question, what’s your answer to this? Thank you
17 very much. It’s to challenge it. And that’s the only way you discover, for
18 instance, that she’s been talked to during her testimony by somebody who
19 was in here.

20 RP 2348.

21 Reading these “remarks... in context[.]” *Pastrana*, 94 Wn. App. at 479, the
22 prosecutor was arguing an inference from the evidence concerning witness credibility.
23 Because “prosecutors may argue inferences from the evidence, including inferences as to
24 why the jury would want to believe one witness over another,” *State v. Copeland*, 130
25 Wn.2d 244, 290–91, 922 P.2d 1304 (1996), these remarks were proper.

1 Therefore, Petitioner has failed to meet his burden of showing prosecutorial
2 misconduct by failing to show improper conduct, and his petition should be denied, if not
3 dismissed.

4 D. CONCLUSION:

5 The trial court did not abuse its discretion in declining to conduct an evidentiary
6 hearing pursuant to CrR 3.6(a) because it decided Petitioner's motion to suppress physical
7 evidence based on the undisputed facts before it.

8 The trial court did not violate Petitioner's right to be present by deciding not to
9 conduct proceedings due to his attorney's medical emergency in Petitioner's absence.


10 The trial court properly admitted the statement of James Wright as an excited
11 utterance because that statement was nontestimonial and hence, not subject to the
12 Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment or Article I, section 22 of the Washington
13 State Constitution.

14 Finally, Petitioner failed to meet his burden of showing prosecutorial misconduct
15 by failing to show improper conduct.

16 Therefore, his present petition should be denied, if not dismissed.

17 DATED: May 21, 2015.

18
19
20 MARK LINDQUIST
Pierce County
Prosecuting Attorney

21
22 
23 BRIAN WASANKARI
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 28945

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25